Purchase Agreement

between

SixFive Stadium Experience Inc

and

Woodbridge Soccer Club

For

Prefabricated Modular Stadium

# **Table of Contents**

1. Interpretation	2
2. Subject Matter of Sale	3
3. Purchase Price of the Supplies	4
4. Change Orders	5
5. Title and Risk of Loss	5
6. Delivery to Site	6
7. Installation of Supplies	6
8. Preparatory Work	6
9. Transportation and Insurance	6
10. Export Documents, Duties and Foreign Taxes	7
11. Customs Duties, Buyer's Country Taxes, and Import Permits	7
12. Design and Performance Warranty	7
13. Material and Workmanship Warranty	8
14. Logging of Maintenance	8
15. Training	8
16. Disclaimer of Liability for Personal Injury	9
17. Liability for Consequential Damages	9
18. Intellectual Property	9
19. Proprietary Information	9
20. Excusable Delay	9
21. Destruction of Supplies	10
22. Termination	10
23. Spare Parts	11
24. Entire Agreement	11
25. Authorization	11
26. Effective Date	11
27. Disputes	11
29. Notices	12
30. Project Coordinator	12
31. Assignment	12
32. Headings	12
33. Severability	13
34 Non-Waiver	13

# **Purchase Agreement**

THIS AGREEMENT made on 13<sup>th</sup> of November by and between SixFive Stadium Experience Inc, a corporation organized under the laws of British Columbia, Canada, having its principal office at 388-1111 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC, Canada, V6E 2J3 (hereinafter called the "SixFive", which expression includes its successors and permitted assignees) and Woodbridge Soccer Club, having its principal office at 7401 Martingrove Rd Woodbridge L4L9E4 (hereinafter called the "Buyer", which expression includes its successors and permitted assignees).

WHEREAS, SixFive wishes to sell to the Buyer and the Buyer wishes to buy from SixFive, SixFive's prefabricated stadium structure and spare parts therefore, all as more particularly described herein;

and

WHEREAS, the Buyer wishes SixFive to oversee the assembly and installation of the modular stadium systems purchased including related equipment and SixFive is willing to undertake this task;

NOW THEREFORE, inconsideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

# 1. Interpretation

In this Agreement, unless the contrary intention appears:

"Agreement" means this document and includes its Appendices.

"Buyer's Country" means the country where the Site is located.

"Change Orders" has the meaning set forth in Section 4 entitled "Change Orders"

"Change Order Approvals" means confirmation in writing by SixFive of approved Change Orders requested by the Buyer.

"Day" means calendar day; "Week" means calendar week; "Month" means calendar month.

When the last day of any period prescribed for the execution of any assignment falls on a day which is not a working day in Canada or in the Buyer's Country, the assignment may be performed on the first working day following the aforementioned day.

"Design Drawings" means conceptual drawings created by SixFive including 2D architectural drawings, 3D renderings, and/or engineering drawings used to detail aesthetic concepts and represent the client's ideas and the designer's intent.

"Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 25 entitled "Effective Date".

"Excusable Delay" has the meaning set forth in Section 19 entitled "Excusable Delay".

"Installation Date" means the date on which the modular stadium has been erected on the Site and inspected and certified by SixFive as being substantially complete.

"Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 3 entitled "Purchase Price of the Supplies"

"Port of Entry" means Toronto.

"Site" means the Buyer's facility at Vaughan Grove Sports Complex 7401 Martin Grove Rd Vaughan, Ontario, Canada.

"Shop Drawings" means drawings produced by SixFive and/or its suppliers and subsidiaries specifically prepared for the manufacturing of the components for the modular stadium which provide the details needed during fabrication, assembly, installation, and erection, such as the specified material, weld types and connections.

"Supplies" means all equipment, parts, instructions (excluding installation) and the associated documentation, support equipment and design services to be provided under the Agreement, as detailed in Appendix A "Houston Cricket Stadium Package Inclusions".

# 2. Subject Matter of Sale

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement:

SixFive shall sell and deliver to the Buyer and the Buyer shall purchase from SixFive:

- (i) an 484-seat modular stadium package as outlined in *Appendix A "Woodbridge* Soccer Club Package Inclusions".
- (ii) Appendix B "Woodbridge Soccer Club Stadium Plan and Section View Drawings"
- (iii) Appendix C "Optional Additional Components,"; and
- (iv) Appendix D "Included Spare Parts."
- (v) Appendix E: "SixFive Value Add Services Rate Card"

#### 2.1 Design Services:

- a. SixFive shall provide comprehensive design services for the modular stadium, including architectural and structural plans for coordination with the Buyer's local architectural and engineering team, and any other necessary disciplines.
- b. SixFive shall develop and prepare Design Drawings, Shop Drawings, and other specifications for the modular stadium, ensuring compliance with the Buyer's requirements, local building codes, and regulations.
- c. SixFive shall submit the design documents to the Buyer for review and approval. The Buyer shall provide timely feedback, and SixFive shall make revisions as necessary until the Buyer's approval is obtained.
- d. The cost of the Design Services and any revisions provided is included in the Price until the Buyer approves the Shop Drawings in writing. After the Shop Drawings are approved by the Buyer, any revisions which require additional Design Services will be billed to the Buyer at SixFive's standard rates as per Appendix E, "SixFive Rate Card."
- e. During the course of the design services, revisions may be made which substantially alter the design and/or the Price of the modular stadium. Where changes are made that affect the Price, change orders will be issued by SixFive in accordance with section 4, Change Orders below.

f. SixFive will coordinate with the Buyer's local architectural and engineering team and will provide specifications and tolerances that must be met for the installation of the modular stadium. The Buyer's local architectural and engineering team shall be responsible for the design and engineering of all site works, foundations, site services, code compliance, permit issuance and coordination with jurisdictional authorities.

(collectively the "Design Services")

#### 2.2 Supply of Modular Stadium:

- a. Manufacturing: SixFive shall manufacture the modular components of the stadium in accordance with the approved Shop Drawings and specifications.
- b. Materials: SixFive shall procure and utilize high-quality materials that meet the specifications and industry standards to ensure durability, safety, and performance.
- c. Quality Control: SixFive shall implement a rigorous quality control process to ensure that all components meet the approved design and specifications before shipment.
- d. Packaging and Shipping: SixFive shall properly package and label the modular components to ensure safe transportation and shall arrange for their delivery to the Port of Entry in accordance with the agreed-upon schedule. SixFive is not responsible for any delays during the shipping process, the arrival time given by SixFive is only an estimate and the Buyer may not make any claim against SixFive for delays in shipping.

## 2.3 Installation of Modular Stadium

- a. SixFive shall provide a specialist to assist the Buyer in erecting the modular stadium package who will be on site throughout the installation process.
- b. The installation of the modular stadium package shall be the sole responsibility of the Buyer. Installation is not included in the Price.
- c. Buyer is responsible for ensuring that all site works, services, foundations and other works required for the installation of the modular stadium are completed prior to the arrival of the modular stadium components, subject to the approval of SixFive prior to the safe installation of the modular stadium.
- d. SixFive will inspect the completed site works to ensure they collectively meet the requirements and tolerance ranges for the installation of the modular stadium. Any changes or rework that may be required to meet the installation tolerances of the modular stadium will be to sole responsibility of the Buyer. If on site modifications are required to the modular stadium system, the cost of those modifications shall be the responsibility of the Buyer, and additional design services provided by SixFive as a result may incur additional costs.

#### 3. Purchase Price of the Supplies

## a. Purchase Price:

The purchase price (hereinafter the "Price") of the Supplies, including packaging, insurance, and transportation of the Supplies to the Port of Entry, of the Supplies described in the Section 2 entitled "Subject Matter of Sale" above, shall be **USD \$111,804.39**.

#### b. Payment:

Project payments are to me made from the Buyer to SixFive on the following schedule:

- i) a non-refundable down payment equivalent to 10% of the Price, to be paid upon execution of this Agreement;
- ii) 40% of the Price to be paid upon the Buyer's written approval of Shop Drawings;
- iii) 20% of the Price to be paid in order to release the shipment of the Supplies from the manufacturing facility to be delivered to the Buyer;
- iv) 20% of the Price upon arrival of the Supplies in the destination port of the Buyer;
- v) 10% of the Price plus any other fees or amounts payable upon completion of the installation as certified by the general contractor.
- c. In addition to the Supplies, the Buyer may at its sole discretion choose to purchase from SixFive several Optional Add-Ons as listed in Appendix C. Any additions requested by the Buyers shall be added to the Agreement by way of a Change Orders and must be selected prior to approval of the Shop Drawings, unless otherwise approved in writing by SixFive. Change Order documents will address payment terms on specific items separately.

#### d. Disbursements:

Any additional expenses including but not limited to travel costs, mileage, printing, courier services, or any other costs incurred by SixFive that are not directly related to the design and manufacture of the modular stadium as described above will be billed to the Buyer for reimbursement in addition to the Price.

# 4. Change Orders

- a) The Buyer may at its sole discretion make requests for changes at any time until the Shop Drawings are approved in writing. SixFive will provide the Buyer with a Change Order Approval detailing any changes that materially affect the Price for the Buyer's approval. Once a Change Order Approval has been executed, the additional work becomes a material part of the Agreement.
- b) SixFive may at its sole discretion make requests for changes at any time, and the Buyer shall not unreasonably withhold consent for approval of SixFive's change order requests. If for reasons of supply chain issues, availability of materials, delays by suppliers, or any reason beyond SixFive's control shall be automatically approved if there is no change in Price.
- c) Unless otherwise stipulated, Change Orders resulting in an increase in Price must be paid for in accordance with the terms of the Change Order. Change Orders resulting in a credit to the Buyer will be applied as a credit to the final payment due upon completion of the project.
- d) Change Order Requests will be reviewed within 48 hours of receipt. Change Order approvals will be reviewed and approved or denied within 7 business days of receipt.

# 5. Title and Risk of Loss

Except as indicated below in this paragraph, title to the Supplies shall be transferred from SixFive to the Buyer when and to the extent payments are received by SixFive. The Buyer represents and warrants that it shall not cause or permit to be caused any lien or encumbrance of any kind to be placed upon the Supplies to an extent greater than its share of ownership in the Supplies.

Risk of loss of any part of the Supplies shall pass from SixFive to the Buyer upon delivery of such parts to the Port of Entry.

# 6. Delivery to Site

Delivery to site of the products is included in the contract price. Buyer is responsible for any additional charges that may occur due to delays in offloading the container.

# 7. Installation of Supplies

- a) The assembly and installation of the Supplies at the Site are to be completed by the Buyer's contractors after completion of Site preparation by the Buyer which will be inspected by the Buyers Project Coordinator to ensure they meet the requirements for installation of the modular stadium components. SixFive will provide an expert to oversee the installation by the Buyers contractor. During the installation period the Buyer shall permit SixFive's employees, subcontractors or agents unlimited access to the Site provided said individuals comply with policies and procedures established for the Buyer's employees regarding such matters as health and safety issues.
- b) With reasonable notice to SixFive, the Buyer and its authorized representatives shall, during reasonable working hours, be free to inspect the quality and conditions of the Supplies at SixFive's site(s) during fabrication and at any time upon arrival of the same at the Site and during the installation period. SixFive will notify in writing to the Buyer when the major materials are available for fabrication.
- c) The Buyer at its sole expense shall provide SixFive with closed premises on or reasonably near the Site in which SixFive may store employee clothing and tools and equipment required for the installation. However, the Buyer does not assume any risk with respect to the loss or theft of any such items while on the Buyer's premises.
- d) The Price reflects labour provided by SixFive. Any additional labour or costs required by local labour codes, etc. will be the responsibility of the Buyer.
- e) The Supplies are manufactured according to SixFive's technical standards and engineering standards. If the Buyer requires compliance of the Supplies with any other technical or jurisdictional standards, these technical standards must be notified by the Buyer to SixFive within seven weeks of the Effective Date. All additional costs related to making the Supplies conform to those norms or specific standards shall be charged to the Buyer as a Change Order.

## 8. Preparatory Work

The Buyer shall have the sole responsibility, at its sole expense, for the design, engineering, and work required to prepare the Site for installation of the Supplies. An adequate area for the landing, unloading, sorting, and storage of the supplies must be made available prior to the installation.

#### 9. Transportation and Insurance

SixFive shall at its own expense:

- i) Obtain appropriate property and liability insurance covering loss or damage to the Supplies and injuries to individuals during the manufacturing of the Supplies and during the transportation of the Supplies from SixFive's facilities to the port of entry.
- ii) Pay all freight and other transportation charges associated with delivery of the Supplies to the port of entry and have a representative present during the transfer of the Supplies from the port of entry to the Site.

iii) Maintain worker's compensation insurance during the assembly, installation and testing of the Supplies, as required by applicable law, covering its employees and, upon request from Buyer, provide a certificate of insurance evidencing such coverage.

# Buyer shall at its own expense:

- i) Obtain appropriate property and liability insurance covering loss or damage to the Supplies between delivery of the Supplies at the port of entry and the time when SixFive has been paid in accordance with the terms outlined in section section 3(b) above. All policies supplied by the Buyer shall name the Buyer and SixFive as insured parties.
- ii) shall each maintain a minimum of CAD\$2.0 million excess liability insurance, subject to approval of SixFive, to cover liability associated with accidents, direct and indirect liability for bodily injury and death to individuals, damage to the property. This insurance must name SixFive and be in place for a period of two (2) years following the granting of occupancy.
- iii) Pay all freight and other transportation charges associated with delivery of the Supplies from the port of entry to the Site and have a representative present during the transfer of the Supplies from the port of entry to the Site.

# 10. Export Documents, Duties and Foreign Taxes

SixFive will be responsible for obtaining all necessary export permits or licences relating to the Supplies and the Buyer will offer such reasonable assistance in this regard as SixFive may request. SixFive shall be liable for all export duties and all other taxes required to be paid outside of the Buyer's Country in connection with the sale of the Supplies.

# 11. Customs Duties, Buyer's Country Taxes, and Import Permits

The Buyer shall pay all sales, use, gross receipts, excise, and other taxes assessed or levied by the Buyer's Country or any other taxing jurisdiction, state or local, within the Buyer's Country, against the Buyer (including any fines, penalties, and interests thereof) as a result of or in connection with the importing of the Supplies.

The Buyer shall be responsible for obtaining all necessary permits or licences with respect to the importation of the Supplies in the Buyer's Country and the installation and use of the Supplies at the Site, and SixFive will offer the Buyer such reasonable assistance in this regard as the Buyer may request.

# 12. Design and Performance Warranty

SixFive hereby warrants that the Supplies will perform in accordance with applicable design and performance specifications and that the Shop Drawings will be completed to meet or exceed code requirements. All design services will be provided by qualified professionals. SixFive will provide the Buyer with a code compliance document issued by a registered code compliance engineer authorized to work in the jurisdiction where the modular stadium will be installed.

# 13. Material and Workmanship Warranty

SixFive hereby warrants that the Supplies will be free from defects in material and workmanship for a period of one (1) year from the Installation Date of the Supplies by the Buyer or fifteen (15) months

from the date the Supplies are delivered to the port of entry if the installation is delayed at the Buyer's request or through the Buyer's fault, whichever period is shorter.

An extended warranty for a period of ten (10) years from the Installation Date applies to all steel components including galvanized steel structure, galvanized steel guard rails, galvanized steel stair components, galvanized steel ramps, galvanized or electro-painted steel floor and roof panels, and galvanized steel media and disabled platforms.

An extended warranty for a period of five (5) years from the Installation Date applies to all plastic seats, media desks, windows, and flooring. Fading of plastic seats due to exposure to UV light over time is excluded from the extended warranty.

SixFive shall bear the cost and risk of loss during transport of (i) any defective part or components being returned to SixFive's factory with SixFive's agreement and (ii) any repaired or replacement item being returned to the Buyer. Products or parts returned without the agreement of SixFive shall be at the Buyer's sole risk and expense. SixFive shall bear any personnel costs incurred in connection with the fulfillment of SixFive's obligations under this warranty.

All warranties exclude damage due to negligence, failure to properly maintain the modular stadium components, or normal wear and tear.

The foregoing warranties are exclusive and are given and accepted in lieu of all other warranties of quality written or oral, express, or implied, and all other warranties are hereby disclaimed.

The warranty certificate will be issued only after all amounts due under this Agreement have been paid in full. Failure to comply with the payment requirements under this Agreement will void the warranty.

# 14. Logging of Maintenance

The Buyer shall keep a logbook of maintenance for the Supplies. In this logbook shall be documented all sessions of operation of the Supplies as well as any problems encountered during operation of the Supplies. If the Buyer requests assistance from SixFive in resolving a problem with the Supplies and the information in the log is relevant to this resolution, the Buyer may at its sole discretion make the log available to SixFive. If the Buyer presents a claim against the warranty provided by SixFive, a copy of the log must be made available to SixFive. It is understood by SixFive that the information contained in the Log may be of a proprietary nature and is therefore covered by the confidentiality agreement between the parties.

#### 15. Training

SixFive agrees to provide up to two days of training in the operation, preventative maintenance and repair to the Buyers' personnel at the Site during or immediately after the installation period, with the exact dates and times to be mutually agreed by the Buyer and SixFive. The cost of such training shall be the responsibility of SixFive.

# 16. Disclaimer of Liability for Personal Injury

SixFive and the Buyer hereby acknowledge that SixFive shall not incur any liability for personal injury to any party arising out of the installation, operations and/or maintenance of the Supplies unless such liability is solely caused by a gross negligence on the part of SixFive in the design, implementation or documentation including but not limited to maintenance and operation manuals for

the Supplies. In order to give effect to these limitations of SixFive's liability, and as an express condition of sale, the Buyer hereby agrees to indemnify and hold SixFive harmless from any and all claims, but limited by the exclusion of negligent acts or omissions as outlined in the preceding sentence, damages, and liability, including reasonable legal fees, arising out of a claim against SixFive for personal injuries of any party occasioned by the operation and/or maintenance of such Supplies.

# 17. Liability for Consequential Damages

SixFive's liability to the Buyer for damages howsoever caused shall under no circumstances whatsoever (including the decision of an arbitration panel or court of law) exceed the payments actually received by SixFive for the Supplies and SixFive shall under no circumstances have any liability for special, incidental, indirect, or consequential damages, including without limitation liability for loss of use, loss of profits, damage, or injury to other property or persons.

# 18. Intellectual Property

All intellectual property rights arising from the design and supply of the modular stadium, including but not limited to drawings, plans, specifications, and technical documentation, shall remain the property of the Supplier, unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by the Parties.

# 19. Proprietary Information

The modular stadium components are protected under international patent law, patent no PI200771313, and all proprietary information shared with the Buyer shall remain confidential and the sole property of SixFive. The Buyer shall not directly or indirectly allow any of the components to be manufactured, copied, or reproduced in any fashion without the prior written consent of SixFive which may be withheld for any reason.

#### 20. Excusable Delay

If any party hereunder or considered a supplier of SixFive is prevented, restricted, or interfered with by reason of i) fire, explosion, strike, lockout, labour dispute, casualty or accident, epidemic, cyclone, drought, flood or ii) war, revolution, riot, civil commotion, acts of public enemies, blockage, or embargo, or iii) any law or proclamation, regulation, ordinance, demand or requirement of any applicable government or any subdivision thereof or representative of any such government, or iv) any other acts acts of God or issues in supply chain delay outside of the control of SixFive, then, and in that event, SixFive shall promptly notify the Buyer of the issue and estimated impact, delays, if any, to the delivery of the Supplies. Upon such notice, the delay, if any, shall be considered an Excusable Delay ("Excusable Delay"), where SixFive will be excused from the performance of such of its obligations as are prevented, restricted, or interfered with by reason of the occurrence of any of the events outlined above. Such delays with not be deemed a default under this Agreement nor be subject to any liability or damage.

The time period during which any party is to perform under this Agreement shall be extended by the period of any Excusable Delay. Excusable Delay under the same terms occurring in respect to SixFive's sub-contractors shall be deemed to be Excusable Delay occurring to SixFive.

#### 21. Destruction of Supplies

In the event that prior to the delivery of the Supplies, the Supplies are lost, destroyed or damaged to such an extent that they cannot be repaired and delivered in accordance with the delivery schedule outlined within this agreement, the time reasonably required by SixFive to furnish a replacement for

the Supplies or to accomplish such repairs shall be deemed an Excusable Delay under the Section entitled "Excusable Delay" and SixFive shall not be deemed to be in default or to have breached its duties hereunder.

#### 22. Termination

a) Termination for Convenience: Either Party may terminate this Agreement for convenience by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the other Party until such time as the Shop Drawings have been approved.

In such a case, if the terminating party within the period outlined above is SixFive, then SixFive shall return to the Buyer any funds held from the down payment outlined in section 3(b)(i), less any reasonable costs incurred by SixFive at the point of termination.

If the terminating party within the period outlined above is the Buyer, then:

- a) any deposits outlined in section 3 and other fees paid by the Buyer at the point of termination shall be considered earned, with no refund payable to the Buyer;
- b) After the Shop Drawings have been approved or manufacturing for the modular stadium has begun, all fees outlined in Section 3(b) (i) and (ii) shall be considered earned and no refund will be payable to the Buyer;
- c) If termination is made upon the Supplies being shipped, then the Buyer shall be liable for paying all fees payable as outlined in Section 3 above.
- b) Termination for Cause: Either Party may terminate this Agreement for cause in the event of a material breach by the other Party. The terminating Party shall provide written notice specifying the nature of the breach. The non-breaching Party shall have a reasonable opportunity to cure the breach. If the breach is not cured within the specified timeframe, the Agreement may be terminated, and the non-breaching Party shall be entitled to pursue any available legal remedies.
- c) Termination for Insolvency

In the event that either the Buyer or SixFive:

- a) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or becomes insolvent;
- b) files an insolvency petition in bankruptcy;
- c) petitions for or acquiesces in the appointment of any receiver, trustee or similar officer to liquidate or conserve its business or any substantial part of its assets:
- d) commences, under the laws of any jurisdiction, any proceeding involving its insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, adjustment of debt, dissolution, liquidation or any other similar proceeding for the release of financially distressed debtors; or;
- e) becomes a party to any proceeding or action of the type described above in c) or
- d) and such proceeding or action remains undismissed or unstayed for a period of more than sixty (60) days,

then the other party may, by written notice, terminate this Agreement as outlined in section 22 (a) above.

## 23. Spare Parts

SixFive agrees to make available to the Buyer, as the Buyer may from time to time require, spare parts and components to the Supplies, and SixFive agrees to exert reasonable efforts to meet the Buyer's delivery requirements for said parts and components or acceptable substitutes. It is

understood that the parties shall negotiate in good faith reasonable and mutually agreeable prices for said spare parts and components.

# 24. Entire Agreement

This Agreement, made in two originals, one for each party, contains the entire agreement between the parties and shall supersede all previous communications and agreements, whether oral or written, with respect to the subject matter hereof and the provisions hereof may not be modified or superseded except by an instrument in writing signed by a duly authorized officer or representative of each of the parties hereto.

#### 25. Authorization

By virtue of having affixed their respective signatures below, each of the parties hereto warrants that it has obtained all authorization necessary to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement.

#### 26. Effective Date

This Agreement shall become effective as of the date of execution by both parties (Effective Date")

# 27. Disputes

With respect to any controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement, such controversy shall be settled by final and binding arbitration in Houston, Texas, USA, in accordance with the then-existing rules (the "Rules") of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof provided, however, that the law applicable to any controversy and the law by which this Agreement shall be construed and governed shall be the law of the State of Texas, regardless of its or any jurisdiction's choice of law principles. In any arbitration, pursuant to this Agreement, the award or decision shall be rendered by a majority of the members of a Board of

Arbitration consisting of three (3) members, one of whom shall be appointed by each party and the third of whom shall be the Chairman of the panel and be appointed by mutual agreement of said two party-appointed arbitrators.

In the event of failure of said two arbitrators to agree upon the appointment of the third arbitrator within sixty (60) days after the commencement of the arbitration proceeding, the third arbitrator shall be appointed by the AAA in accordance with the Rules. In the event that either party shall fail to appoint an arbitrator within thirty (30) days after the commencement of the arbitration proceeding, such arbitrator and the third arbitrator shall be appointed by the AAA in accordance with the Rules. The Rules of Evidence and the Right to Discovery shall be applicable to both parties.

Work under this Agreement shall continue during the arbitration proceedings and payments due to SixFive shall not be withheld on account of such proceedings unless such work or payment is the subject matter of the arbitration in which case this provision shall not apply to such work or payment.

The parties agree to equally share the expenses associated with this arbitration procedure.

# 28. Governing Laws

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance. with the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

#### 29. Notices

Any notice given under this Agreement shall be made in writing, shall be given by registered mail to:

In the case of SixFive:

SixFive Stadium Experience Inc 388-1111 West Hastings Street Vancouver, BC, V6E 2J3 Attn: Dean Shillington

In the case of the Buyer:

Woodbridge Soccer Club 7401 Martingrove Rd Woodbridge L4L 9E4 Attn: Adam Candido

Either party, by written notice to the other, may change the address to which notices will be directed. Any notice shall be deemed given on the date evidencing the delivery.

#### 30. Project Coordinator

Upon signing this Agreement, both parties shall designate a representative who will act as Project Coordinator and official addressee for all communication resulting from this Agreement, other than any official notice given under the Section 28 entitled "Notices". All requests for service, transmittals of information, reports on training activity, and other communication required under this agreement shall be sent by and directed to the respective Project Coordinators. Informal conversations occurring person-to-person or by phone, requests and information shall be validated by an appropriate written form as confirmation. Any communication sent to others than those designated as Project Coordinators, or in a manner not in accordance with the Notices procedure specified in this Agreement will be considered as informal and non-existent.

## 31. Assignment

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assignees, but neither the rights nor the duties of either party hereunder may be assigned, in whole or in part by either party, without the prior written consent of the other party. Such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld by either party. Any assignment shall not relieve the assignee of any of the Agreement obligations of the assignor.

# 32. Headings

The headings contained within this Agreement are established solely for the convenience of the two parties and are not intended to and do not limit, construe, or modify any of the terms and conditions included hereof.

#### 33. Severability

If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal or unenforceable, then this Agreement, except for such part or parts thereof, shall continue to be in full force and effect.

In the event of any inconsistency between a provision of the conditions of the Agreement and the content of an Appendix to this Agreement, and if the parties cannot agree on the clause to take

precedence, the AAA of Section 29 will be asked to mediate/arbitrate the dispute and the parties agree to abide by the finding of said association.

# 34. Non-Waiver

The failure by either party to enforce at any time or for any period of time any of the provisions hereof shall not be a waiver of such provisions nor of the right of such party thereafter to enforce such provisions.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in duplicate by their duly qualified officers or representatives.
SixFive Stadium Experience Inc.
Name: Title:
Buyer

Name: Mike Rietta Title: President WSC